IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Docket No.: 82485

CHARLES ROCHA

Electronically Filed Aug 16 2021 01:24 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

Eighth Judicial District Court Case No.:

A-19-804209-J

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND
HUMAN SERVICES, DIVISION OF
PUBLIC AND BEHAVIORAL HEALTH,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS-DANIEL MARKS, ESQ.
Nevada State Bar No. 002003
office@danielmarks.net
ADAM LEVINE, ESQ.
Nevada State Bar No. 004673
alevine@daneilmarks.net
610 South Ninth Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 386-0536: FAX (702) 386-6812
Attorneys for Appellant

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT PURSUANT TO NRAP 26.1

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRS 233B.150. Petitioner, Charles Rocha, timely filed his Notice of Appeal from the judgment of the district court on February 11, 2021 (APP Vol. 2 at 350), within 30 days of the Nevada State Personnel Administrative Hearing Officer's final decision following remand from the district courts' judgments granting a Petition for Judicial Review. (APP Vol. II at 329-353). The Order on Petition for Judicial Review (APP Vol. II at 324-325) was not appealable as a final judgment at the time that it issued because it remanded the matter back to the Hearing Officer for further proceedings. See *Bally's Grant Hotel & Casino v. Reeves*, 112 Nev. 1487, 929 P.2d 936 (1996); *Clark County Liquor and Gaming Licensing Board v. Clark*, 102 Nev. 654, 730 P.2d 443 (1986).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter should stay with the Supreme Court because, assuming the Court does not dispose of the case on jurisdictional grounds for DHHS' failure to serve the agency and all parties with its Petition For Judicial Review, the appeal raises a substantial issue of first impression and public policy, and further argues for reversal of case law from the Supreme Court, specifically *O'Keefe v. Department of Motor Vehicles*, 134 Nev. 752, 431 P.3d 350 (2018) (hereafter "O'Keefe") and Southwest Gas Corporation v. Vargas, 111 Nev. 1064, 901 P.2d 693 (1995) (hereafter "Vargas").

Appellant was a peace officer required to be certified as Category III (Corrections) by the Nevada Commission on Peace Officers Standards and Training. Use of force is among the areas of certification and officers are instructed. After Appellant used force to defend himself against an inmate who attacked him with a stated intent to kill, a State Personnel Hearing Officer reversed the termination finding he acted in self-defense. The district court granted Respondent's Petition for Judicial Review and reversed.

All persons, including employees, have a right of self-defense. While the issue has never been addressed in Nevada, courts in other jurisdictions addressing private sector employment have recognized that a tortious discharge occurs when an employer terminates an employee who acts in self-defense or in defense of others. While Appellant is a member of the classified service, and presumably limited to the statutory remedy under NRS 284.390, this Appeal presents as an issue of first impression whether that right of self-defense applies.

The appeal further seeks to reverse *O'Keefe*, supra as the facts of this case illustrate the wisdom of Justice Pickering's concurring decision in that case. *O'Keefe* overturned twenty three (23) years of precedent set by *Knapp v. State Department of Prisons*, 111 Nev. 420, 892 P.2d 575 (1995) that hearing officers are to make "an independent determination as to whether there is sufficient evidence that the discipline would serve the good of the public service" and adopted a framework whereby, with regard to all issues other than the factual

determination as to whether a regulation or rule was violated, hearing officers are to defer to the appointing authorities. However, *O'Keefe* was decided on a Petition for Review from an Order of Affirmance by the Court Appeals. Neither the briefing before the Court Appeals, nor the supplemental briefing ordered by this Court after the matter was transferred from the Court Appeals, addressed the issue as to whether 23 years of precedent under *Knapp* should be reversed.

The Court in O'Keefe further cited to Southwest Gas Corp. v. Vargas, 111 Nev. 1064, 1078, 901 P.2d 693, 701-02 (1995) for a definition of just cause which gave an extremely high level of deference to the employer. However, this Court overlooked the fact that the standard in Vargas was limited only to implied contracts of continuing employment arising out of employee handbooks, and that the just cause standard has a very different and non-deferential meaning in other contexts.

Because all of these issues cannot be addressed or resolved by the Court Appeals, this case should stay with the Supreme Court.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES FOR REVIEW

1. Did Respondent DHHS fail to properly invoke the jurisdiction of the district court in its Petition for Judicial Review by failing to serve the Personnel Commission and Department of Administration with the Petition as required by NRS 233B.130(5)?

- 2. If the jurisdiction of the District Court was properly invoked, did the district court err and/or abuse its discretion by granting judicial review and reversing the Hearing Officer's determination that the dismissal of Charles Rocha was not reasonable because Rocha justifiably acted in self-defense?
- 3. Do employees in the classified service have a right to use force in self-defense?
- 4. Should this Court revisit its decision in *O'Keefe v. Department of Motor Vehicles*, 134 Nev. 752, 431 P.3d 350 (2018)?
- 5. Does the standard of just cause from *Southwest Gas Corporation v. Vargas*, 111 Nev. 1064, 901 P.2d 693 (1995) apply where the Legislature has determined the issue of just cause is to be decided by an independent neutral third party?
- 6. Does the deferral to the employer imposed under O'Keefe v.

 Department of Motor Vehicles violate due process of law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants Charles Rocha was a member of the classified service of the State of Nevada who dismissed pursuant to NRS 284.385. He timely filed an appeal under NRS 284.390 requesting that the dismissal be set aside. (APP Vol. I at 246). Following a hearing, a State of Nevada Hearing Officer set aside the dismissal. (APP Vol. I at 132-149). Respondents State of Nevada Department of Health and Human Resources ("DHHS") filed a Petition for Judicial Review.

(APP Vol. I at 004-006). The Petition was granted and remanded the matter back to the Hearing Officer with directions to apply a different standard. (APP at 319-320). Following remand and application of a different standard as directed by the district court the Hearing Officer affirmed the dismissal. (APP Vol. II at 332-340). Thereafter, a Notice of Appeal from the district court's granting of judicial review was filed. (APP Vol. II at 355).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Charles Rocha was employed as a Forensic Specialist at the Stein Psychiatric Hospital (hereafter "Stein") which is a facility where criminal defendants with mental health issues are incarcerated while receiving treatment. (APP Vol. I at 029, 041). Prior to transferring to Stein, Rocha was a Corrections Officer with Nevada Department Corrections ("NDOC"). (APP Vol. I at 042-043).

Forensic Specialists like Corrections Officers are Category III required to be certified by the Nevada Commission on Peace Officers Standards and Training ("POST"). Category III POST certification is a requirement for the job. (APP Vol. I at 069, 072). The job duties of a Forensic Specialist are the same as a Corrections Officer – to maintain safety and order in the facility. (APP Vol. I at 042).

Rocha obtained his Category III certification through the Academy of NDOC. (APP Vol. I at 071). As part of their training Category III peace officers are taught "Use of force", "Tactics for the arrest and control of suspects, including,

without limitation, methods for arrest and the use of less than lethal weapons" and "Training concerning active assailants". See NAC 289.160(1)(d) and (3)(c) and (d). In Charles Roca's case this included hand strikes, kicks and baton strikes. (APP Vol. I at 075).

On October 13, 2018 an inmate at Stein, who had a history of violence, walked up to Rocha, stated "I'm going to fucking kill you" and proceeded to physically attack Rocha. The inmate struck Rocha several times in the face and wrapped his leg around Roca's leg causing Rocha to fall to the floor on an already injured hip. Other Forensic Specialists rushed to Roca's aid and attempted to restrain the inmate. However, the inmate continue to keep his legs wrapped around Roca's leg, and his arm across Rocha's back, such that Roca could not escape. While Roca was trapped on the ground, the inmate was spitting in Roca's face and continuing to articulate threats. (APP Vol. I at 079, 083-084, 087-096, 100). Because Rocha was trapped and in reasonable fear for his life/safety, he administered two (2) strikes to the inmate's face in order to break free and gain the inmate's compliance. (APP Vol. I at 047, 100).

¹ At the hearing, DHHS objected to the term "inmate" claiming that they are "patients" or "clients". (APP Vol. I at 044). However, criminal defendants at Stein are transported there from other detention facilities such as Clark County Detention Center ("CCDC"), they are not free to leave, and force may be utilized to prevent an escape. (APP Vol. I at 044, 127). Thus, they do not magically lose their inmate status. While not adequately reflected in the record, there are also some persons who have been convicted who are housed at Stein for treatment.

DHHS terminated Rocha's employment. Rocha appealed his termination to a State Personnel Hearing Officer under NRS 284.390. (APP Vol. I at 246). At his appeals hearing DHHS' investigator opined that Roca's strikes constituted "excessive force". (APP Vol. I at 055-056, 060). Rocha testified that he had never been instructed by DHHS that he could not use his POST training and techniques, and that he utilized those techniques because he feared for his life and was trying to break free of the inmate so he could assist the other Forensics Specialists to gain compliance of the inmate. (APP Vol. I at 094-095, 098, 100).

In closing arguments Rocha's counsel argued the objective reasonableness standard for use of force from *Graham v. Connor*, 490 U.S. 386 (1989) should be applied. (APP Vol. I at 103-105). DHHS's counsel *agreed* that the Hearing Officers should review the use of force case law, but argued that under such standard the force was "clearly excessive". (APP Vol. I at 110).

The Hearing Officer did decide the case under a use of force standard, but nonetheless ruled in favor of Rocha on a theory of self-defense, and reversed the termination and ordered Roca reinstated with back pay and benefits. (APP Vol. I at 132-149). Specifically the Hearing Officer concluded:

Contrary to the Employer's conclusion that the Employee struck the Patient in retaliation for the attached there is ample evidence to conclude the Employee was acting in self-defense at the time he struck the Patient.

(APP Vol. I at 144).

Following the Hearing Officer's Decision DHHS filed a Petition for Reconsideration arguing that DHHS has not alleged a violation of this Use of Force Policy, but rather alleged "client abuse". The Petition attached the DHHS Use of Force Policy. (APP Vol. I at 118-131). The Hearing Officer denied the petition. (APP Vol. I at 113 -117). In denying the Petition the hearing officer did re-review the record and concluded:

Reconsideration of the record confirms that no substantial evidence was presented which established by a preponderance of the evidence that the Employee's actions were unjustified. If Employee's actions were not unjustified it follows that Employee did not violate policy or State law and could not be disciplined for his conduct and no further consideration is required.

(APP Vol. I at 115).

DHHS filed a Petition for Judicial Review. (APP Vol. I at 004-007). While that Petition named both Charles Roca, the State of Nevada Department of Administration and the Personnel Commission, only Rocha was served with the Petition as required by NRS 233B.130(5). Without providing the Department of Administration or Personnel Commission notice or an opportunity to file a Notice of Intent to participate under NRS 233B.130(3), DHHS argued that the Hearing Officer erred by applying a use of force analysis. (APP Vol. II at 282-292). The district court agreed with DHHS, stayed and reversed the decision of the Hearing Officer holding:

THE COURT FINDS that the Hearing Officer committed clear error by ultimately applying a use of force standard to make the

determination that Respondent's actions were justified when the Respondent was actually charged with patient abuse.

The District Court remanded the matter back to the Hearing Officer to make a determination based upon "the proper standard and the actual charges against the Respondent". (APP Vol. II at 319-320). Following remand, and applying the standard as directed by the district court, the Hearing Officer affirmed the dismissal. (APP Vol. II at 255-262).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Questions of subject matter jurisdiction are reviewed de novo. *Ogawa v. Ogawa*, 125 Nev. 660, 667, 221 P.3d 699, 704 (2009).

When considering an appeal from a district court order granting judicial review, the Supreme Court stands in the position as the district court with his review limited to the record before the administrative agency and a presumption that the agency decision is valid. *State ex. rel. State Bd. of Equalization v. Barta*, 124 Nev. 612, 188 P.3d 1092 (2008). The court reviews issues of law, including questions of statutory construction, de novo. *Public Agency Compensation Trust v. Blake*, 127 Nev. 863, 866, 265 P.3d 694, 696 (2011).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The jurisdiction of the district court to grant judicial review was never properly invoked. NRS 233B.130(5) requires that any Petition for Judicial Review be served "must be served upon the agency and every party within 45 days after

the filing of the petition". The Petition contained a Certificate of Service indicating it was mailed to Rocha's former counsel only. No other Proof of Service was filed with the district court showing service upon the Personnel Commission or Department of Administration.

Even if the district court's jurisdiction had been properly invoked, it was the district court which erred, and not the Hearing Officer, when the district court concluded that the case was improperly decided under a use of force standard. During the appeals hearing, DHHS' claim of abuse or neglect was premised upon its assertion that the force utilized was excessive. Not only did DHHS witnesses specifically claim that the force was excessive, but in closing argument DHHS' counsel urged the court to review *Graham v. Connor*, supra and claimed that under that standard the force was excessive.

However, the Hearing Officer did not decide the case under a use of force standard. He decided it based upon principles of self-defense.

Had the Hearing Officer utilized a use of force standard, this would not have been improper. Forensic Specialists are peace officers. They are trained to use force and undergo mandatory annual defense of tactics training in order to maintain their POST Category III certification. The undisputed testimony at the hearing was that DHHS has never informed in its Forensic Specialist that they could not utilized their tactics and training in connection with their jobs. The *Graham v. Connor* standard is one of the "objective reasonableness". If the use of

force was objectively reasonable, by definition include not constitute "abuse" or the violation of a rule.

Employees when they accept State employment, do not give up their right of self-defense. In the private sector other jurisdictions have recognized that a tortious discharge in violation of public policy occurs where an employee is terminated for legitimately protecting themselves or other persons. If Charles Rocha was acting in self-defense, as found by the hearing officer, by definition he could not be engaging in client abuse.

The Hearing Officer's decision on remand from the district court to affirm the dismissal was arbitrary and capricious. In concluding that lesser force could've been utilized in the form of placing his hand out to block any spit, the Hearing Officer ignored the fact that (1) Charles Roca was still trapped by the inmate and in danger; (2) the purpose of the strikes were to permit Rocha to free himself; and (3) placing his hand out to block any spit would not assist in removing Rocha from the danger he was in, and would actually increase the danger. The Hearing Officer further down played the significance of spitting.

The twisted outcome whereby the hearing officer finds that Charles Rocha should be reinstated because he acted reasonably in self-defense, but is compelled to affirm the dismissal when limited only to an analysis of whether a rule is violated, is a product of the mistaken and overly mechanical *O'Keefe* analysis, and

illustrates why Justice Pickering's concurring opinion in *O'Keefe* was correct and why *O'Keefe* should be overruled.

NRS 284.390 requires a hearing officer to determine the "reasonableness" of a suspension, demotion or dismissal. Subsection (7) adopts the "just cause" standard. The terms are synonymous as the reasonableness of the discipline decided by management is an essential component of the "just cause" standard as that term has been defined by 80 years of industrial common law by arbitrators.

However, when the Court crafted its *O'Keefe* analysis, it concluded terms such as "reasonableness" of just cause" indicate a high level of deference to the employer. In support of this the Court cited the definition of just cause from *Southwest Gas Corp. v. Vargas* without any critical analysis.

The O'Keefe Court overlooked the fact that the deferential standard in Vargas was based solely upon the unique circumstances of contracts of continuing employment based upon unilateral declaration by private sector employers. Other courts adopting the same standard as in Vargas have correctly concluded that such a definition of just cause would not apply in other contexts.

The just cause language in NRS 284.390 predates *Vargas*. There is no reason to believe that when the Legislature adopted such language, that it intended a definition anything other than that which has evolved under the industrial common law which does not require deference to the employer.

Finally, in applying such a deferential standard of just cause under *Vargas*, the Court in *O'Keefe* gave no consideration to the due process implications which are unique to public sector employment. *Vargas* arose in the private sector. However, state employees with a property interest in their employment received the protections of the 14th Amendment's Due Process Clause. The appeals hearing provided for under NRS 284.390 does not exist solely by grace of a legislative enactment. Due process requires a post-deprivation evidentiary hearing before a neutral party. In no other circumstance when the State deprives a person of a property interest does the neutral decision maker to defer to one party. There is no reason why that should be any different when the property interest at issue is employment.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT NEVER HAD JURISDICTION TO GRANT JUDICIAL REVIEW BECAUSE DHHS NEVER SERVED THE PERSONNEL COMMISSION OR DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION WITH ITS PETITION.

NRS 233B.130(2)(a) requires a Petition for Judicial Review to "Name as respondents the agency and all parties of record to the administrative proceeding". Subsection (5) states that "The petition for judicial review and any cross-petitions for judicial review must be served upon the agency and every party within 45 days after the filing of the petition, unless, upon a showing of good cause, the district court extends the time for such service." Service upon the agency requires service

upon "The person serving in the office of administrative head of the named agency". NRS 233B.130(2)(c)(2).

Respondent DHHS named both the Personnel Commission and the Department of Administration as a parties in its Petition. (APP Vol. I at 004-005). However, the Certificate of Mailing which was filed with the Petition reveals that it was only served by mail upon a Rocha's former counsel Angela Lizada, Esq. and not the Personnel Commission or Department of Administration. Likewise, DHHS did not list the Personnel Commission or Department of Administration on its Certificate of Mailing when it filed its Motion For Stay of the Hearing Officer's decision. (APP Vol. I at 007A-007K). No other Proof(s) of Service demonstrating service upon the Chairman of the Personnel Commission or Director of the Department of Administration were ever filed with the District Court. (APP Vol. I at 001-002).

Under NRS 233B.130(3) "The agency and any party desiring to participate in the judicial review must file a statement of intent to participate in the petition for judicial review and serve the statement upon the agency and every party within 20 days after service of the petition." Angela Lizada, Esq. did so as she was served with the Petition. (APP Vol. I at 008-009). The Personnel Commission and the Department of Administration did not file any such Statement of Intent as they were never actually served with the Petition.

Recently in *Whitfield v. Nevada State Personnel Commission et al.*, 137 Nev.Adv.Op. 34 (July 29, 2021) this court reiterated "If a party fails to strictly comply with the statutory requirements for judicial review, the courts have no jurisdiction over the case." *Whitfield* at p. 5 citing *Washoe County v. Otto*, 128 Nev. 424, 431, 282 P.3d 719, 725 (2012). Strict compliance requires more than simply naming a party; it requires that the named party actually be served and provided an opportunity to participate.

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