IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CHARLES ROCHA,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF NEVADA, ex re; its DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, DIVISION OF PUBLIC SERVICES, DIVISION OF PUBULIC AND BEHAVIORAL HEALTH,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed
Case No.: 82485 Oct 13 2021 03:15 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Dist. Ct. Case Nocietal of Supreme Court

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

AARON D. FORD Attorney General SUSANNE M. SLIWA Deputy Attorney General 555 E. Washington Avenue, #3900

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ADAM LEVINE, ESQ. Law Office of Daniel Marks. Esq. 610 S. 9th Street Las Vegas, NV 89101

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

C. Arguments Not Raised Below Should Not Be Considered.

Appellant raises many issues in his Opening Brief that were not raised at either the administrative hearing level or during the PJR process. This Honorable Court will generally not consider arguments that a party raises for the first time on appeal. *State Board of Equalization v. Barta*, 124 Nev. 612, 188 P.3d 1092 (2008).

In

<u>Palmieri</u> v. Clark County, 131 Nev. 1028, 1047 n.14, 367 P.3d 442, 455 n.14 (201 5), the Respondent did not argue an issue at the lower level (in that case, the District Court) and it did not raise the issue in the Opening or Reply Briefs. This Honorable Court held that, as a general rule, issues not raised before the district court or in the appellant's opening brief on appeal are deemed waived. *Palmieri* is directly analogous to the instant case.

Prior to this appeal Appellant never challenged the *O'Keefe* deferential standard of review, the concept of substantial evidence, service of Respondent's PJR on other parties and whether the pre and post termination hearings comport with Due Process. All of these issues will be addressed individually. However, it is important to emphasize than none of them were argued by Appellant prior to this appeal and should not be considered by this Honorable Court pursuant to *Barta* and *Palmieri*.

D. The District Court Had Jurisdiction In This Matter.

Appellant filed a Statement of Intent to Participate in the judicial review process on November 11, 2019. (APP Vol. I at 008-009). At no time during the litigation of this matter did he raise the issue of service for any party.

Appellant relies on *Whitfield v. Nevada State Personnel Commission et al.*, 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 34 (July 29, 2021) to support his argument that the District Court was without jurisdiction in this matter due to some parties of record not being served with the Petition for Judicial Review. Appellant's reliance on *Whitfield* is misplaced. The 45 day period for service of a timely filed Petition for Judicial Review of an administrative decision is not a jurisdictional requirement. *Spar Bus. Servs., Inc. v. Olson*, 135 Nev. 296, 299, 448 P.3d 539, 542 (2019). Since service is not a jurisdictional requirement it can be waived. The service argument was not raised at the judicial review level and indeed was not raised until this appeal.

Even if that issue had not been waived, Appellant did not have standing to argue lack of service on behalf of another party. Standing is a question of law to be reviewed de novo. A party generally has standing to assert only its own rights and cannot raise the claims of a third party. *Logan v. Abe Pacific Heights Properties, LLC*, 131 Nev. 260, 263, 350 P.3d 1139, 1141 (2015).

The United States Supreme Court has established that the "irreducible constitutional minimum" of standing requires that a plaintiff have suffered an "injury in fact" that is not merely conjectural or hypothetical, that there be a causal connection between the injury and the conduct complained of, and that it must be likely, as opposed to merely speculative, that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision. *Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife*, 504 U.S. 555, 560–561, 112 S.Ct. 2130, 2136, 119 L.Ed.2d 351 (1992). The improper service of another party does not directly give injury of fact to Appellant.

///

E. The District Court's Remand Was Not In Error.

Respondent has always argued that this is a client abuse case. The NPD-41 Specificity of Charges states it was substantiated that Appellant "engaged in patient mistreatment and/or abuse, patient endangerment and failed to follow policies and procedures." (APP Vol. I at 181). The client abuse argument has been consistent through Respondent's Employer's Prehearing Statement (APP Vol. I at 171-178), during the administrative hearing (APP Vol. I at 102), and throughout the subsequent judicial review process. (APP Vol. II at 282-292, 311-318).

The District Court found that the Hearing Officer committed clear error by ultimately applying a use of force standard to make the determination that the Appellant's actions were justified when he had actually been charged with client abuse. (APP Vol. II at 320). While the term "excessive force" may have been used over the course of this litigation and in DHHS policy, Appellant was terminated for *abuse*. He was found to have violated several Department of Health and Human Services Prohibitions and Penalties (hereinafter P&Ps), many of which authorize termination for a first offense. (APP Vol. I at 222-225). One of these violated sections, D8, mandates termination for a first offense. (APP Vols. I and II at 65, 163, 225). The District Court recognized that the Hearing Officer applied the wrong standard in his decision and remanded the matter back for consideration under the proper standard. (APP Vol. I at 319-320).

The argument that the Hearing Officer decided this case based on a self-defense standard rather than a use of force standard is incorrect. While both of these terms were used in the Hearing Officer's Decision, (APP Vol. I at 143-145, 147), that Decision is clearly based on use of force and that force being used in self-defense. (APP Vol. I at 147). Nowhere in the Decision is a determination that Appellant committed client abuse. (APP Vol. I at 132-149).

Appellant's contention that the District Court must have reached its decision "without actually reviewing the record" is offensive and non-sensical. That Court obviously reviewed the Record on Appeal and the pleadings of the parties prior to the hearing on the Petition for Judicial Review. Additionally, the District Court heard and granted Respondent's Motion for Stay which was fully briefed by the parties. The District Court also heard lengthy testimony at the hearing itself prior to rendering its decision.

There was testimony at the administrative hearing that hitting a client constitutes abuse. (APP Vol. I at 54). Appellant admitted to hitting the client twice with a closed fist. (APP Vol. I at 35, 88). The Hearing Officer did not specifically address the question of client abuse in his decision, (APP Vol. I at 132-149) despite this testimony. The District Court's review of the record and pleadings and analysis of the hearing testimony was clearly correct. The District Court did not issue the DC Order in error.

F. Respondent Did Not Waive the Standard of Review Argument.

Respondent never pursued Appellant's termination under a use of force standard and did not waive the argument that said standard was inappropriate. Appellant's analysis of *Graham v. Conner*, 490 U.S. 386 (1989) is irrelevant. While that case was mentioned by Appellant's counsel in her closing argument at the administrative hearing (APP Vol. I at 108), it was not cited in her Pre-Hearing Statement. (APP Vol. I at 150-170). Appellant acknowledges that the Hearing Officer did not use *Graham v. Conner* in his analysis for his Decision.

Appellant attempts to convince this Honorable Court otherwise with out of context references to the terms "use of force," "excessive force" and "self-defense." This case is and always will be about client abuse. That is the charge in the NPD-41 Specificity of Charges (APP Vol. I at 180-185) and it has been Respondent's argument throughout this case.

The case of *Haynes v. Golub Corp.*, 166 Vt. 228, 240, 692 A.2d 377 (1997) that Appellant cites as authority for the waiver argument is not on point. Respondent has never "acquiesced" to this case being decided on use of force, excessive force or self-defense. Respondent has plainly and consistently argued that this is a client abuse case and not one of use of force or self-defense. In fact, counsel for Respondent specifically argued at the administrative hearing that this is not a use of force case. (APP Vol. I at 8, 9, 102, 110).

G. Appellant Was Not Acting in Self-Defense.

Appellant argues that he had a right to act in self-defense and that he should not have been terminated because he was exercising that right. Appellant's cited authorities to support this contention are criminal statutes. This is not a criminal matter.

At the time of his termination, Appellant had received both Peace Officer Standards Training (POST) and Conflict Prevention and Response Techniques (CPART) training. (APP Vol. I at 43, 72, 211-217). The CPART trainings taught Appellant techniques to de-escalate situations involving persons with mental health issues (APP Vol. I at 73) and were used in mental health settings. Appellant testified that both POST and CPART training involved de-escalation techniques. (APP Vol. I at 73).

Appellant's cited authorities for his contention that he cannot be terminated for a "legitimate exercise of the right of self-defense" are misplaced. All of the cases cited arose from situations in the private sector and involved at will employees. None of them arose from cases involving Peace Officers, Mental Health Technicians or other employees trained in de-escalation techniques for persons with mental illness.

///

///

Appellant was a trained Forensic Specialist IV. He failed to utilize his training and admittedly punched a client twice. (APP Vol. I at 46). This amounted to abuse.

H. The Decision on Remand Was Neither Arbitrary nor Capricious.

As stated previously, Appellant cannot appeal the Hearing Officer's Decision on Remand because the proper method of challenge is a Petition for Judicial Review. Even if the Decision on Remand were properly challenged, it was not arbitrary and capricious.

Appellant argues that the Hearing Officer's use of the client abuse standard in the Decision on Remand (as was instructed by the District Court) was arbitrary and capricious. That argument reinforces the fact that it is the DC Order remanding the matter back to the Hearing Officer that Appellant is appealing.

Appellant mischaracterizes the Decision by stating that the Hearing Officer concluded that there had been no abuse because the Appellant had acted in self-defense. The Hearing Officer actually found that Appellant used force in self-defense and that he was justified in doing so. (APP Vol. I at 147). This clearly demonstrates that the Hearing Officer did not apply the correct standard, which should have been client abuse, in his Decision.

When the proper standard was used in the Decision on Remand, the Hearing Officer concluded that Appellant had not used the minimal force available as was required by the applicable agency policy. (APP Vol. II at 336-337). This amounted to client abuse and was a serious violation of law and regulation which gave Respondent the authority to impose termination. (APP Vol. II at 337).

If the agency's published regulations prescribe termination as an appropriate level of discipline for a first-time offense, then that violation is necessarily 'serious' as a matter of law. *O'Keefe v. Department of Motor Vehicles*, 134 Nev. 752, 431 P.3d 350 (2018). In this case, many of the P&Ps cited in the NPD-41 Specificity of Charges allow for termination on a first offense. Specifically, B7, B22, D1, D8 and

D9 all authorize termination on a first offense. (APP. Vol. II at 221-230). Violation of D8 mandates termination. (APP. Vol II at 225). Appellant's violations of the charged P&Ps were serious as a matter of law and warranted termination.

I. O'Keefe Should Not Be Overturned.

Appellant's argument that *O'Keefe v. State, Dep't of Motor Vehicles,* 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 92, 431 P.3d 350 (2018) should be overturned is not appropriate. Appellant did not raise this issue prior to this appeal, and it should not be considered pursuant to the decisions in *Barta* and *Palmieri*. Moreover, Appellant specifically agreed to the *O'Keefe* standard that was used in Decision on Remand. (APP. Vol. II at 332-333). At the direction of the Hearing Officer the parties conferred and formulated the standard to be used.

Counsel submitted that the decision on remand in this case is a determination of whether the termination was justified based upon the charge of client abuse stated on the NPD-41. The parties stipulated that the authority granted the Hearing Officer under NRS 284.390(6) is to determine whether the agency had just cause for the discipline "as provided in NRS 284.385" A dismissal for just cause is one which is not for any arbitrary, capricious, or illegal reason and which is one based upon facts (1) supported by substantial evidence and (2) reasonably believed by the employer to be true."

<u>O'Keefe v. State, Dept of Motor Vehicles</u>, 134 Nev. 752, 431 P.3d 350 (2018) instructs Hearing Officers to utilize a three-step process in deciding when reviewing disciplinary decisions:

- 1) the Hearing Officer must review, de novo, whether the employee committed the alleged violation;
- 2) whether the alleged violation is a serious violation of law or regulation that would make the most severe discipline appropriate for a first discipline; and
- 3) a deferential standard of review is utilized with regards to whether a termination is in the "good of public service."

It was stipulated that the above be used in the determination of whether the termination of Charles Rocha for the charge of client abuse was justified.

Additionally, Appellant cited the *O'Keefe* standard in his responsive brief during the judicial review process. (APP. Vol. I at 303, 307, 308). Appellant cannot now argue that *O'Keefe* is erroneous.

In addition to the previous cited decisions, by Appellant's own logic and his cited case of *Haynes v. Golub Corp.*, 166 Vt. 228, 692 A.2d 377 (1997), he has waived any argument against the *O'Keefe* standard. Appellant also challenges the substantial evidence standard despite the fact that he cited it in his responsive brief during the PJR process (APP Vol. II at 302-308) and did not argue the issue earlier in the litigation.

Appellant submits a lengthy argument against *O'Keefe* discussing "industrial common law" and cases from other jurisdictions. None of this changes the fact that there no conflict exists between the *O'Keefe* standard of review and the just cause standard found in NRS 284.390(1).

Appellant argues that the terms "good of the public service" and "reasonabless" referred to in NRS Chapter 284 are the "just cause" standa that is required by NRS 284.390(7) and that a deferential standard of review presents a conflict. This Honorable Court specifically discussed this issue in *O'Keefe*. Deference to appointing authority's decision is not an automatic affirmation of the action of the agency. The reviewing entity must satisfy itself that the agency has articulated a rational connection between the facts found and the choice made. *O'Keefe* at 760. This constitutes the just cause analysis.

The rational connection mandated in the *O'Keefe* decision directly establishes both reasonableness and good of the public service. The deference required by *O'Keefe* does not obviate a Hearing Officer's authority to assess an agency's

decision and determine whether the necessary rational connections have been established.

The language of NRS 284.385(1)(a) authorizes dismissal so long as "the appointing authority considers that the good of the public service will be served thereby." This statute recognizes that "the good of the public service" is a subjective concept, and the relevant perspective is that of the appointing authority, who is in a better position than the hearing officer to evaluate what is best for the public service. O'Keefe at 758. See also Taylor v. State, Dep't of Health & Human Servs., 129 Nev. 928, 931-32, 314 P.3d 949, 951 (2013). The deferential standard does not negate the neutrality of a decision maker. As this Honorable Court found in O'Keefe and Taylor, an appointing authority has better perspective and understanding as to what is best for the public service in terms of its agency and employees than that of a neutral decision maker. The Hearing Officer analysis must also include determination of whether the alleged violation is serious enough to warrant the discipline. O'Keefe at 759.

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